
WALKS  THROUGH  THE  PENGUIN  GENERAL  CEMETERY 
 

 
 
 

WALKING  IN  A  GRAVEYARD 
 

Mostly places of peaceful quietude 
apart from Natureõs gentle sounds 
are those headstone studded graveyards 
where silent bones rest underground. 
Weathered, stained, and lichen covered 
names, along with messages so brief 
only hint at those who sleep below 
now immune from pain and grief. 
 
What sort of people were they? 
Would we have liked them had we met? 
Do we have reason to remember them 
or were they too easy to forget? 
Perhaps some changed the course of history. 
Although we are blithely unaware 
our world may have been so different 
yet do we even have a care? 

 
Are our lives too full and busy  
for a moment to give some thought 
about those who built this country 
or in deadly battles fought 
to ensure that we had freedom 
to enjoy a better way of life 
devoid of hunger, fear and hardship 
of wars and mortal strife. 
 
It bodes us well to pause and know 
they all were once like us 
and how our time must surely pass 
òashes to ashes ð dust to dust.ó 
 

    ©  Pete. Stratford   29.9.16 
 



 
From October, 2016, to May, 2017, the Burnie Regional Museum staged a 
temporary exhibition entitled Murder, Mayhem and Death. 
 
In conjunction with that exhibition, a public programme was offered in the form of 
tours of local cemeteries.  The public programme was named Ghosts and Grave 
Tours.  Amongst the cemeteries visited in October, 2016, and May, 2017, was the 
Penguin General Cemetery. 
 
The tours were conducted by Burnie Regional Museum casual employee, Mr Chris 
Banks, ably supported by a small team of staff and volunteers from the Museum.  Mr 
Banks dressed the part of an undertaker and led the crowd to a selection of graves 
where he paused to tell the stories of the passing of the individuals or families buried 
there.  The tours started at dusk and continued into the darkness of night, lit only 
with lanterns and torches.  In excess of 100 members of the public took part in each 
of these tours.  Before moving on to the next grave, lilies, sprigs of rosemary and 
other flowers were laid as a mark of respect for those whose story had just been 
recalled. 
 

 
 
In response to a request from Mr Ross Hartley of Penguin, Chris Banks has provided 
here his script for those cemetery tours.  He notes that they are not referenced to 
show the sources of the information.  (That was not necessary for his purpose of the 
tours.)  However, he recommends that you refer to the Trove website 
(https://trove.nla.gov.au/newspaper/search?adv=y ) and explore the digitised 
newspapers of Tasmania in the years mentioned in the script for the death, burial 
and in memoriam notices for these (and other) individuals.  This is where Chris 
obtained the stories for his tours. 
 
Chris is indebted to Ross for his interest in these tours and his guidance as Chris 
researched the Penguin stories.  Chris is also indebted to the Penguin History Group 
and, in particular, to Ms Ann Keesing of Penguin for the information on the paupers 
buried in this cemetery.  He has quoted directly from her booklet Paupers Row 
Cemetery Hill Penguin (2014).  This booklet was purchased from the Penguin 
Information Centre. 

https://trove.nla.gov.au/newspaper/search?adv=y


 
Inspired by the concept of the Ghosts and Grave Tours, local poet Mr Pete Stratford 
penned a couple of verses which he then generously donated to the cause.  Pete 
has now graciously allowed his poems to be included in this story for your enjoyment 
and reflection. 
 
Chris highly recommends a visit to the Burnie Regional Museum to see the 
Federation Street and Early Burnie displays for an immersive experience into life in 
Burnie during the 19th and early 20th centuries.  In addition, the temporary 
exhibitions, which are changed two or three times each year, feature more artefacts 
from the Museumôs extensive collections, professionally curated and displayed.  The 
Museum is open seven days per week, including most public holidays.  The Museum 
staff conduct other public programmes from time to time and the volunteers are able 
to undertake research into the catalogue and resources there in order to answer your 
requests for information. 
 
As you read these stories and research you own family histories, Chris wishes you 
every success and enjoyment. 
 
 
 

 
 



Welcome to the Ghosts and Graves tours of the Penguin General 
Cemetery. 
 
The first recorded death in Penguin was that of a baby, John Lancaster, 
in 1865, just four years after European settlement here.  The first 
recorded burial was that of Eliza Ann Hales who died during childbirth.  
She was buried in this cemetery on 23rd January, 1869.  It is understood 
that Rev. W.H. Walton of the Primitive Methodist Church officiated at her 
burial.  It is also understood that this Minister of Religion also performed 
the funeral at the first burial at the Wivenhoe Cemetery in Burnie. 
 
A community meeting on 28th January, 1885, established the Penguin 
Cemetery Trust.  The land for the cemetery was originally owned by 
Rev. Walton.  Twelve years and many burials later, in 1897, the site was 
gazetted as a public cemetery, known then as the Penguin Public 
Cemetery. 
 
The first meeting of the Cemetery Trust committee was held on 6th 
January, 1886; the last recorded meeting was on 24th June, 1943.  
Minutes of the meetings indicate that, in its earlier days, the cemetery 
was portioned off to religious denominations, however, this is not evident 
today.  The Minutes also indicate that additional lands were purchased 
as demand grew.  In 1957, the cemetery opened a new section, 
essentially delineating the old from the new.  The cemetery closed in 
1977 when the nearby Penguin/Ulverstone Lawn Cemetery opened on 
South Road.  A few burials still take place here in the Penguin General 
Cemetery, the most recent being in February, 2016. 
 

---ooo000ooo--- 
 
Rev. W.H. WALTON 
 
I just mentioned the name of Rev. W.H. Walton who had a very early 
connection with this place.  So, it is only right and fitting that we should 
learn more about Rev. W.H. Walton.  Much information is provided in his 
comprehensive Obituary which appeared in The North Western 
Advocate and the Emu Bay Times on Monday, 4th April, 1910.  A similar 
Obituary was published in the Country News column of the Daily Post in 
Hobart on Friday, 8th April, 1910, under the heading of Penguin.  So I 
shall combine the two to give you a picture of this man. 
 
Widespread regret was expressed in Burnie yesterday when it became 
known that the Rev. W.H. Walton, a veteran Methodist clergyman, had 



passed away.  The rev. gentleman had been in weak health for some 
time past, but was able to move about the district, and even as recently 
as Saturday morning last he was in Burnie.  The end, however, came 
suddenly.  Mr. Walton, retired to bed on Saturday evening, apparently 
fairly well, but during the night he was seized with illness, and died of 
heart failure yesterday morning about half-past 2 oôclock.  Dr. Watson, 
who had been attending him for some time back, was called away to the 
15-Mile on Saturday night, and Dr Harricks was therefore sent for, but 
before his arrival death had claimed Mr. Walton.  He was to have taken 
the afternoon service in the church here, and it came as a great shock to 
many who came to hear him to find that the much-esteemed minister 
had gone to his reward. 
 
Deceased was one of the pioneer clergymen of the Methodist Church in 
Australia, and was extremely popular wherever he went.  His nature 
overflowed with the milk of human kindness, and he was always one of 
the first to put in an appearance in any home where there was sickness 
or other trouble present.  Exceptionally kind-hearted and charitable, the 
Rev. W.H. Walton was a well-known and welcome visitor all over the 
district, for he knew no creed, but that of helping the poor and needy, or 
cheering the traveller by the way.  He was ever ready for the call of duty, 
and even went out of his way to assist those he deemed in need of 
kindly words and deeds, and to many such he proved to be a friend 
indeed.  In February of last year Mr Walton was the recipient of a purse 
of sovereigns to mark his fiftieth year as a minister of the Methodist 
Church. [1 sovereign = £1 = $136.00 now] 
 
His career was full of incident, and bristled with stirring experiences.  He 
was born in 1833, at Pudsey, near Leeds, England, his father being a 
cloth manufacturer at Pudsey.  On his fourth birthday, as he put it, he 
obeyed a summons to serve the Primitive Methodist Church, and 
commenced his studies for the purpose.  From the age of 16 he used to 
deliver discourses and later on he became a local preacher.  He was 
engaged to work for about five years prior to his reception to the 
ministry, which took place practically in 1858, as from then until 1859 he 
was a ñprobationerò.  He was in 1859 stationed at Burnley, [England] but 
after a short stay there the general mission committee sent him to 
Weymouth, and later on to Hastings.  There he gave a sympathetic ear 
to the call for young ministers for the colonies, and having put in a year 
at Hastings, he, in 1860, was accepted by the general mission 
committee to come to the colonies. 
 



The land of his nativity saw the last of him on July 11, 1860.  On that day 
he left Englandôs shores in the good ship Irene, which cast anchor off 
Melbourne on November 1 of the same year.  Mr. Walton, although first 
of all chosen for New Zealand, was sent to Benalla, in Victoria, and there 
he stayed for three years.  In 1862 he married Miss Sarah Neligan, 
daughter of Rev. J. Neligan, a clergyman, of Galway, Ireland, in whom 
Mr. Walton found a helpmate, who, in her own practical way, assisted 
him in his arduous duties as a minister in a country in the making. 
 
After leaving Benalla he was drafted to Parramatta, New South Wales, 
where he remained five months.  He fancied that the heat affected his 
eyes, and he made inquiries regarding a remove to Tasmania.  Rev. 
Foggon, of Longford, agreed to change with Mr. Walton, and the latter 
arrived in Longford towards the end of 1863.  In 1864 he paid his first 
visit to the N.W. Coast, coming along at monthly intervals to administer 
to the spiritual needs of the adherents of his church.  There was a small 
church erected at Norfolk Creek, near Forth, and there service was 
conducted.  In 1868 Mr. Walton travelled as far westward as Burnie, and 
he conducted the first service at the farm now known as ñThe Willowsò, 
South Burnie, and which was then the residence of the late Thomas 
Atkinson, whose sons and their families are well known all along the 
coast.  An appeal to the V.D.L. Co. for a grant of land for a church was 
not made in vain, and a small church was erected at the spot at present 
occupied by the Methodist Church.  The site in ô68 was far different in 
appearance from what it is now, there being big trees and rough timber 
all over and around it.  Nevertheless, the Primitive Methodists build a 
small church there.  Later on a larger church was put up, and it has been 
superseded by the present handsome structure. 
 
Rev. Walton, in 1868, extended his ministries to Cam, but his work was 
hampered by a throat infection, for which he had finally to secure 
Melbourne treatment.  He spent four months under experts, and 
eventually was cured.  He continued his work at Burnie until January 1, 
1870, when he was sent to Heidelberg, near Melbourne; and later on he 

was ordered to Sale.  The value of his good work as a pioneering 
minister became apparent, and he was sent to Geelong, from there to 
Campbellfield, and later on to East Melbourne.  The Methodist Church 
was fast growing larger at the time, and Rev. Walton found himself in 
charge of Brunswick.  The church lost a little ground at Sale, and the 
energetic minister was despatched at once to the scene to prevent 
further ñslippingò.  He accomplished the task and remained there from 
1883 to 1886.  Spencer Street, North Melbourne, was his next station, 
and then in 1887, he was sent over to Launceston.  For three years he 



worked in the northern city, and then he had to return to Williams-town, 
Victoria.  There he laboured for some time, and in 1893 he re-appeared 
in Penguin.  He was super-annuated out in 1894, but since then he had 
kept in almost active work, and on occasions greatly assisted the 
ministers of his church.  Upon his superannuation, he was made head of 
the church in Tasmania having previously been the President of the 
Primitive Methodist Church Connexion of Victoria and Tasmania in 1881 
and in 1884. 
 

Mr. Walton had reached the ripe age of 77 years when he died.  Mrs. 
Walton, who survives him, was born in 1819, the same year as Queen 
Victoria, and is consequently now 91 years of age in 1910.  There is no 
family.  Deceased had, since 1894, been a resident of the Burnie district, 
and endeared himself to all classes and creeds.  He took a very deep 
interest in the progress of the town and district. 
 
Special references were made to Mr Waltonôs death at both services 
held in the Burnie Methodist Church yesterday, the pulpit being draped 
in mourning cloth out of respect to his memory. 
 
The funeral will leave Wivenhoe at noon to-morrow for the Penguin 
cemetery, which will be reached about 3 oôclock.  His mortal remains 
were laid away to rest in the pretty Penguin Cemetery on Tuesday 
afternoon, the large assembly testifying to the esteem held by Penguin 
people for the deceased pastor. 
 
Three weeks later, a memorial service was held at Stowport by the Rev. 
J.C. Freeman, in memory of the Rev W.H. Walton.  According to The 
North Western Advocate and the Emu Bay Times, Rev. Freeman 
remarked that the whole community who had known the Rev. Walton 
could faithfully say he was a true apostle, that he lived and died a good 
Christian, and would be greatly missed. 
 

---ooo000ooo--- 
 
Sarah WALTON 
 
An Obituary for Mrs. W.H. Walton was published in The North Western 
Advocate and the Emu Bay Times on Thursday, 3rd August, 1911.  It 
stated that the death occurred yesterday afternoon of Mrs. W.H. Walton, 
at her residence, Wivenhoe.  The deceased lady had reached the 
patriarchal age of 92, her birthday being on February 15.  [there was 14 
years difference in their ages] 



Like the late Mrs Harriett Wiseman, who was recently called away when 
she had reached a similar ripe old age, Mrs. Walton was one of the 
pioneers of the North-West Coast.  Her husband, the respected pioneer 
Methodist clergyman, Rev. W.H. Walton, died in April, 1910, so that his 
widow did not long survive him.  The late Mr. Walton was fond of relating 
the hardships which he as an early Coastal missionary underwent in the 
days when there were few bridges and hardly any made roads.  His wife 
shared his privation of the North-West in those days, and the hardy 
existence did not shorten the long life that a protecting Providence 
granted her. 
 
Ever since her husbandôs demise Mrs. Waltonôs health has been 
precarious, and during the last two months she was bedridden. 
She was born in Sligo County, Ireland, and was the daughter of a 
clergyman, the Rev. James Neligan.  The late Mrs. Thomas Atkinson, of 
Stowport, was her sister.  The death removes another of the few 
remaining human links that unite the bustling present with other periods 
and other minds, and which are being effaced by the hand of time from 
the memory of to-day.  The funeral will leave her late residence at 11 
a.m. to-morrow for the Penguin cemetery. 
 
A brief news item in the Examiner on Friday, 4th August, 1911, described 
the late Mrs. Walton as the relic of the late Rev. W.H. Walton. 
 

---ooo000ooo--- 
 
Francis Hector Good 
 
The Advocate edition of Thursday, 28th November, 1929, carried the 
death and funeral notices of Francis Hector Good.  The death notice 
read é 
 
GOOD.- Accidentally killed at Penguin, on November 27, Francis Hector, 
dearly beloved son of Mr. and Mrs. Hector Good, Mission Hill, Penguin, 
aged 14 years. 
 
So, how did young Frank meet his end?  An inquiry was held into his 
death at the Penguin Court House the following day.  The inquiry was 
conducted by the district coroner, Mr. W.C. Callaway, while the police 
were represented by Sgt. W.R. Taylor of Ulverstone. 
 
The first witness was David Hector Good, father of the deceased.  He 
said that he was a labourer, residing at Penguin.  On Wednesday, in the 



company of his son and Arthur Smith, he was carting sleepers from the 
Ironcliff Road to Penguin.  When he returned to the Ironcliff Road for the 
second load of sleepers, he told his son to pull some saplings away from 
the stack of sleepers on one side while he did the same on the other 
side. 
 
The father completed his section of the work and commenced loading 
operations.  He missed his son, and called out to him.  When he 
received no reply, he went around to the other side of the stack, where 
he found his son lying on the ground with a number of sleepers on top of 
him.  The witness removed the sleepers as quickly as he could.  His son 
was badly hurt, his face being almost unrecognisable and covered with 
blood.  Witness and Mr. Smith obtained a stretcher and, as the lad was 
still alive, they immediately conveyed him to the Penguin Hospital, a 
phone message of the happening being sent to the doctor previously.  
Some little time after admission to the hospital his son passed away.  In 
his opinion, the fatality was purely accidental.  He had identified the body 
as that of his son, Frank Hector Good. 
 
The second witness, Arthur Heazlewood Smith, corroborated the 
evidence given by the father.  In addition, he noted that they were using 
a motor lorry to cart the sleepers to Penguin.  He stated that the 
sleepers were stacked about ten high and the height of the stack would 
be between seven and eight feet high, each sleeper weighing 
approximately 112 lbs.  The witness was of the opinion that the fatality 
was accidental and, as far as he could see after the accident, nine 
sleepers had fallen. 
 
Dr. A.T. Hamilton, of Penguin, gave evidence to the effect that he 
attended Frank Hector Good at the Penguin Hospital on Wednesday 
morning.  Witness found the lad unconscious.  Blood was issuing from 
the right ear and right nostril.  He also found a large bruise on the right 
side of the top of the ladôs head.  From the way he was breathing and 
the quantity of blood issuing from the ear, witness considered that he 
had an extensive fracture of the base of the skull, and that death was 
close.  The lad passed away about 30 minutes later.  The injuries could 
have been caused by sleepers falling on the boy from a height of seven 
or eight feet.  Death was due to haemorrhage of the brain, brought about 
by the fracture of the skull. 
 

---ooo000ooo--- 
 
 



William Pow(e) Snr 
 
His burial plaque simply reads ñGuest of the Crownò. 
 

---ooo000ooo--- 
 
Elizabeth (Lizzie) Evans and Mrs Harry Evans 
 
The death and funeral notices for Elizabeth Evans appeared in The 
North Western Advocate and the Emu Bay Times on Wednesday, 5th 
September, 1900.  The death notice read é 
 
EVANS.- On September 4, 1900, at her brotherôs residence, Blythe 
Road, Elizabeth Evans; aged 28 years. 
 
Nearly a week later, a news item in the Daily Telegraph noted that é 
 
Another sad death took place at the Blythe on Tuesday, Miss Lizzie 
Evans having succumbed to an attack of inflammation of the lungs.  The 
illness was of short duration, and was due to nursing a young man, 
Albert Smith, whose death occurred last week.  The funeral took place 
on Thursday, and was very largely attended, the service at the cemetery 
being conducted by Revs. W. Earle and W.H. Walton. 
 
Similarly, an article in The North Western Advocate and the Emu Bay 
Times noted that é 
 
Much regret is expressed here in Penguin at the untimely death of Miss 
L. Evans, which took place last Tuesday.  The funeral, which took place 
on Thursday, was largely attended, the burial service being read by the 
Rev. W. Earle.  The Rev. W.H. Walton also delivered an address.  The 
deceased was untiring in attending to her self-imposed task of nursing 
the late Albert Smith, and it was whilst doing this that she contracted the 
lung disease which caused her death.  It is only about 12 months ago 
that her father and mother died, both within a week of each other. 
 
Just a month later another news item in the Daily Telegraph announced 
that é 
 
Much regret has been felt at the death of Mrs. Harry Evans, of the 
Blythe, after a short attack of inflammation of the lungs.  It is only a few 
weeks ago since a sister[-in-law], Miss Lizzie Evans, was laid in the 
cemetery, her death being caused by the same complaint. 



---ooo000ooo--- 
 
William Alfred Anthon 
 
The Advocate editions on Wednesday, 25th, and Thursday, 26th, April, 
1928, carried the death and funeral notices of William Alfred Anthon, as 
follows: 
 
ANTHON.- At Penguin, on April 24 (suddenly), William Alfred, only son 
of Emma and the late Capt. Anthon ï aged 37 years. 
 
News items in the Examiner and in the Advocate on Wednesday, 25th 
April, 1928, reported in more detail: 
 
SKATERôS SUDDEN DEATH 
 
The sudden death occurred, in a skating rink at Penguin last night, of 
William Alfred Anthon, only son of the late Captain [Christian] Anthon.  
He was skating when he fell heavily, striking his head.  He was removed 
to Mr. J.T. Stubbsô residence nearby, but on the arrival of the doctor life 
was found to be extinct.  An inquest will be held. 
 
SKATERôS FATAL FALL.  Penguin Manôs Death. 
 
The opening of the 1928 skating season at Penguin in the Coroneagh 
Hall last night was marred by tragedy.  During the height of the skating 
one of the skaters, William Alfred Anthon, aged 37, single, fell, striking 
his head on the floor.  Other skaters immediately rushed to his 
assistance, and he was carried from the hall in an unconscious state to 
the residence of Mr. J.T. Stubbsô nearby.  Dr. G. Martin was immediately 
sent for, and on his arrival he stated that life was extinct. 
 
The late Mr. Anthon was the only son of Mrs. Emma Anthon and the late 
Captain Anthon. 
 
After a lengthy residence on Flinders Island, he returned only a few 
weeks ago on account of his late fatherôs illness, and after his fatherôs 
death he resided with his mother in Crescent street, Penguin.  The 
funeral will leave the residence of Mrs. Anthon at 3 p.m. to-morrow for 
the Penguin cemetery. 
 
A few days later (Saturday, 28th) the Advocate reported é 
 



From the notification on Tuesday morning of the death of Mr. Wm. 
Anthon, of Penguin, it would appear to many that death was brought 
about through a skating accident.  In fairness to the proprietor of the 
skating rink, Mr. L.D. Frith, of Ulverstone, it should be stated that skating 
did not bring about the death, which is indicated by there having been no 
inquiry.  Dr. Martin, of Penguin, states that death was due to heart 
trouble. 
 
The next article in the same paper reported that é 
 
There was a large and representative gathering at St. Stephenôs Church 
Thursday afternoon to pay the last token of respect to the late William 
Anthon, who died suddenly on Tuesday night.  All parts of the district 
were represented, the utmost sympathy and respect being felt for the 
recently bereaved widowed mother, who has now lost her only son.  
Ven. Archdeacon Atkinson conducted a short solemn service in the 
church and at the graveside in the cemetery.  The members of the local 
Loyal King Edward Lodge, I.O.O.F., M.U., in regalia, preceded the 
hearse, the customary ritual being observed by the brethren present.  
Numerous beautiful floral tokens were received, including one from 
P.N.G. Bro. Athol Overall, of the local lodge.  [Independent Order of 
Oddfellows and Past Noble Grand Brother] 
 

---ooo000ooo--- 
 
Capt. Christian Theodore Anthon 
 
The death and funeral notices for Capt. Christian Theodore Anthon 
appeared in the Examiner newspaper on Saturday, 17th March, 1928, 
just one month before the death of his son, William, in a skating accident 
(24th April).  The death notice read é 
 
ANTHON.- On the 16th? March, at his residence, Crescent street, 
Penguin, Christian Theodore, beloved husband of Emma Anthon, in his 
87th year. 
 
A correspondent writing in the Advocate a week later, recalled the life 
and times of three pioneers of the Penguin district. é 
 
Within a week, three old veterans associated with the development of 
the North West Coast have reached the bourne whence no traveller 
returns, and I desire to pay a tribute to their memory.  It is scarcely 
seven months since Capt. and Mrs C.T. Anthon, of Penguin, celebrated 



their golden wedding and now the hardy old sailor has reached his final 
anchorage, and is at rest in port.  His death removes the last of those 
gallant skippers who traded to the port of Don in its halcyon days when 
the Mersey was little more than a fishing village.  Among the number 
were the three Anthons, Begent, F. Brown, Brodie, Christensen, 
Holyman, Murray, D. Phillips, R. and J. Reid, and the three Taylors.  
Some of the second generation are still ploughing the seas of whom 
Capt. Tom Holyman is probably the oldest afloat.  Captain C. Anthon 
spent all his career in ñwindjammersò, never performing duty on a 
steamer and to his devoted widow and family I tender my respectful 
sympathies. 
 
The same correspondent, writing in the Advocate the following year, on 
Wednesday, 14th August, 1929, reported on the reminiscences of his 
friend, Mr Ellis, who recalled that a é 
 
Capt. H.J. Emmett, in his reminiscences, speaks of the schooner, 
Anthons, being built at Penguin, but Mr. Ellis, who was an eye-witness of 
every launch that took place there has no recollection of a vessel of that 
name having been built at Penguin, unless Captain Anthon afterwards 
changed the name.  There is a large framed picture of this vessel in Mr. 
C. Anthonôs drawing room at Penguin.  It is represented in full sail and 
looks spic and span as she sails over the blue waters of Bass Strait. 
 
There were three Captain Anthons, and all lie side by side in the 
Penguin cemetery.  Jens, Chris and Dan were excellent seamen of the 
old school. 
 
When he forsook the sea after a long seafaring life, Capt. Chris Anthon 
settled at Penguin, where he lived a retired life, passing away in March 
last year at the advanced age of 86.  He celebrated his golden wedding 
a year before his death.  His widow is the oldest daughter of the late Mr. 
J.A. Gambell, who at one time had charge of the public school at Don, 
which the writer attended. 
 

---ooo000ooo--- 
 
A mystery was attached to the death by drowning of Capt. Dan Anthon 
some 33 years ago, says the correspondent, so I shall tell you that story 
next. 
 
  



Capt. Daniel Christopher Anthon 
 
First news of the death of Capt. Daniel Anthon was announced in The 
North Western Advocate and the Emu Bay Times on Friday, 3rd March, 
1899. 
 
DROWNING FATALITY AT PENGUIN 
 
A sad drowning accident occurred this morning by which Mr Anthon, a 
brother of Captain [Chris] Anthon, of the Neptune Hotel, who had been 
staying here for some time, lost his life.  Mr Anthon had been in the habit 
of bathing every morning, and it was while following his usual custom 
this morning that he met his death.  An inquest will be held to-morrow. 
 
Subsequent reports may be found in a number of newspapers and I 
shall quote from The North Western Advocate and the Emu Bay Times 
as well as from The Mercury, both dated Monday, 6th March, 1899. 
 
Drowning Fatality at Penguin.  Captain D.C. Anthon the Victim. 
 
A sad drowning occurred at Penguin on Thursday afternoon last, by 
which Captain Daniel Christopher Anthon, brother of Captain C.T. 
Anthon, proprietor of the Neptune Hotel, lost his life. 
 
Deceased had been staying with his brother for about three weeks, and 
following his usual custom, he went for a bathe on the beach in front of 
the hotel on Thursday afternoon at about half past four oôclock.  While in 
the water he was seized with a fit of apoplexy and, falling forward, 
expired in a few minutes in full view of some boys who were watching 
him.  For some little time they did not notice anything was wrong, but as 
soon as they saw his body floating away they ran for assistance.  Mr H. 
King and Captain J.C. Taylor, who were first on the scene, secured the 
body, which was taken to the Neptune Hotel and Dr MôCall telephoned 
for. 
 
Captain Taylor and Mr King got him ashore with difficulty for he was a 
heavy man.  Froth was coming from the mouth, but he appeared quite 
dead and all efforts tried were of no avail to restore him before he was 
carried to the Neptune Hotel. 
 
Deceased, who was 60 years of age, was a native of Assens, Denmark.  
He came to the colonies in 1864 after spending several years at sea.  
He was attracted to the Victorian goldfields, and his career, both in gold 



mining pursuits and subsequently at sea, was an interesting one.  He 
and his brother, Mr Jens Anthon, now of Sheffield, together bought the 
Don, a vessel engaged in the inter-colonial trade, deceased being the 
commander.  This vessel was wrecked at the Port Phillip Heads.  With 
his brothers, he was also the owner of the schooner Anthons.  After 
losing the Don, he was commander of coastal steamers trading to the 
Gippsland Lakes.  Then he entered the inter-colonial trade, command-
ing, among other vessels, the Pretty Jane, the Richmond, Rosedale, and 
Argyle, for many years trading between the North West Coast and 
Melbourne.  For over 20 years he was connected with the John See and 
North Coast Steamship Company, Sydney, formerly known as Nipper 
and See, and was master of the s.s. City of Grafton, in the Clarence 
River trade, for six years, and until about 12 months ago, when he had a 
fit of apoplexy, which necessitated his leaving the vessel.  After three or 
four monthsô treatment at the Sydney Hospital he was discharged, but 
still suffering so much from the effects of the fit that he was obliged to 
give up sea life.  He lived at Petersham, Sydney, and leaves a wife and 
five children, the eldest being 15 years of age.  One of his brothers is 
Captain Chris Anthon of the Neptune Hotel, Penguin.  The other is 
Captain Jens Anthon, well known in Devonport, and formerly captain of 
the s.s. Argyle and s.s. Rosedale, old traders between the Coast and 
Melbourne, but now engaged in farming at Sheffield.  The three brothers 
are natives of Denmark. 
 

---ooo000ooo--- 
 
Capt. Jens Anthon 
 
A notice in the Personal column of The Mercury on Tuesday, 17th July, 
1917, reported that é 
 
Captain Jens Anthon, one of the few surviving sea captains who traded 
with the North-West Coast in the seventies [1870s], is seriously ill at his 
home at Devonport.  More than thirty years ago he forsook the sea, and 
was farming in the Kentish district, where he married Miss Morris, who 
died 20 years ago, leaving him with a daughter.  His health has been 
failing, but up to a few weeks ago he was to be seen about the streets.  
His younger brother, Captain C. Anthon, is still following the sea, and 
has his home at Penguin. 
 
However, a notice in the Examiner and other papers confirmed that 
Capt. Jens Anthon passed away that night, on 17th July. 
 



The death occurred last night at his residence, Turton-street, Devonport, 
of Captain Jens Anthon, who has been ailing for the past twelve months, 
and gradually passed away. 
 
He was born in Denmark in [1836], and was therefore 81 years of age.  
He came to Australia in 1861, and had charge of several sailing ships 
trading between the North-West Coast and Melbourne.  In 1876 he was 
appointed to take command of the steamer Napier, and subsequently 
the Drizzle, Rosedale, Ferrett, Dawn, Albany, Bullora, Marloo, 
Inamincka, and Yambacoona, his sailings taking him to Portland, 
Adelaide, Port Darwin, Fremantle, and King Island. 
 
For many years Capt. Jens Anthon commanded the steamer 
Yambacoona, owned by Messrs. Stephenson and Gunn, which traded 
between Tasmania and King Island.  He had many voyages in that 
vessel. 
 
He also had an inter-colonial trader, engaged in the West Australian 
trade, but with advancing years, took up farming in the Kentish district.  
He afterwards settled at Devonport, and died there in 1917.  During his 
sojourn at the Mersey, he built several houses.  His King Island 
associations were over 30 years ago, when the Government first threw 
open the Crown lands there for settlement. 
 
Of late years he has been residing in Devonport, where he has acquired 
several valuable properties.  He married in 1879 to a Miss Morris, of 
Sheffield, who died a couple of years later.  His daughter survives him, 
also a brother, Captain C. Anthon, of Penguin.  The deceased belonged 
to the Masonic fraternity, and was one of the original members of the 
Peace Lodge, Forth, which now has its headquarters at Penguin.  He 
took an active interest in the affairs of the port, and was also a 
consistent supporter of the Mersey Regatta Association.  The funeral will 
take place at Penguin on Wednesday. 
 
The obituary in the Daily Telegraph of Wednesday, 18th July, 1917, 
provides an even more detailed account of the life of Captain Jen 
Anthon. 
 
In the Daily Post on Thursday, 19th July, 1917, é 
 
The funeral of the late Captain Jens Anthon left Devonport shortly after 9 
oôclock yesterday morning for Penguin.  The morning proved very wet, 
and the attendance was limited at Devonport.  [Many of the mourners] 



had known the deceased for periods reaching fifty years.  é  At the 
grave were Captain C. Anthon (brother), and numerous old friends paid 
the last tribute of respect to a gallant sailor far from his native land.  By 
the way, the funeral at Penguin was at 1.00pm so they allowed four 
hours to travel from Devonport to Penguin. 
 
A ghost story:  Both the Zeehan & Dundas Herald and the Daily 
Telegraph on Friday, 20th July, 1917, recalled a é 
 
Sad Story of the Past. 
 
The death of Captain Jens Anthon, whose funeral took place on 
Wednesday, at Devonport, revives a melancholy experience related by 
the captain after the death of his wife, which took place 36 years ago, or 
two years after their marriage.  At the time when their only child was 
born Captain Anthon remained at home, but, everything appearing to be 
right, he rejoined his vessel.  He stated that on the trip he had a vision of 
his cabin being illuminated with light; his wife appeared to him, and he 
was so impressed that he wrote on the top of his cabin, ñmy wife died at 
2 oôclockò.  His premonition proved unfortunately true. 
 

---ooo000ooo--- 
 
Violet Ida Yeo 
 
A comprehensive report on the inquest into the death of Violet Ida Yeo 
appeared in the Examiner on Thursday, 21st January, 1915. 
 
An enquiry into the drowning fatality yesterday was held by the coroner 
(Mr. E.D. Akinson) at the residence of the Rev. H. Yeo to-day.  Sergeant 
Longman appeared for the police. 
 
Dr. William Smellie in evidence stated that shortly before 1 oôclock 
yesterday, when sitting inside his house, he heard screams.  He did not 
pay much attention to them until his wife came in and said that someone 
was drowning in the sea close by.  He at once ran down to the beach, 
and swam out to where he saw two women in the water.  One was 
practically submerged, floating face downwards, with her head under 
water.  The other was floating on her back and calling for assistance.  
He gave a shout to the latter to cheer her up, telling her to keep floating 
ï ñYouôre doing all right.ò  He then took the one who looked the worse 
ashore ï the deceased, Violet Ida Yeo.  Whilst lifting her out of the water 
he saw James Sims and Roy Taylor bringing a dinghy over the beach 



from the wharf ï a most praiseworthy act indeed.  Seeing that Miss 
Arnott, the other bather, was still floating safely, and confident that she 
would be rescued by the boatmen, he immediately proceeded to use 
means to restore animation to the body he had brought ashore.  He 
persisted in this work, ably assisted by Trooper Gillam, for an hour and a 
half, but no evidence of returning vitality was obtained.  The body when 
taken from the water was quite warm.  In his opinion, death was due to 
drowning, which had only recently taken place. 
 
To the coroner ï Deceased was about 30 yards from the shore, and in 
about 12ft of water, when he reached her.  There was a heavy sea 
running the previous night, but it had abated a little at this time.  As the 
beach was of a shelving nature, it was dangerous at high water, 
although not locally recognised as such.  The tide at the time was nearly 
full, with a big slop coming occasionally.  No doubt one of the bigger 
waves had lifted the deceased off her feet.  He considered the beach 
well sheltered and safe under ordinary conditions, but during dry 
weather it became dangerous to poor swimmers owing to rapidly 
shelving close inshore. 
 
Selina Arnott, who was still suffering from the shock and experience and 
confined to bed, deposed that she was cousin to the deceased and 
Stella Yeo, with whom she went bathing the previous day.  Deceased 
and herself seemed to get into a hole, and were twisted round and round 
in the surf.  They could not touch bottom, and were being taken out to 
sea.  When just about overcome she heard a voice calling out to try to 
keep floating, and this she continued to do until she was picked up and 
taken into the boat. 
 
Stella Yeo, a sister of the deceased, deposed that she went with the 
deceased and the previous witness to bathe on Johnsonôs Beach the 
previous day.  Her cousin was carried off her feet and about 15 yards 
out to sea, and was in evident trouble.  Witness went to her assistance, 
as Miss Arnott seemed tired, and unable to swim against the under tow.  
Witness waded within about eight yards of her, and then swam until she 
caught her arm to assist her.  She had to let her go, as her sister 
(deceased), who had also come out to help, called out for assistance.  
The water was very deep, and seemed to draw them under.  Witness 
then started to swim ashore, but was unable to reach it, so she turned 
on her back, and screamed for help.  She swam ashore in this way, 
reaching it just as her father came down.  She then ran to Simsô house 
for help, and Mr. Sims got a boat.  Mr William Hawkins and Dr. Smellie 
then came, but she did not see what they did.  It was about 20 minutes 



from the time they went down until she went for assistance.  They were 
in trouble about three minutes after going in the water. 
 
The coroner returned a verdict that the deceased came by her death by 
accidental drowning, and not otherwise; and added as a rider that the 
Penguin lifeboat committee be urged to have the existing lifeboat 
repaired at once, and that lifebuoys and lines be place on the beaches 
used for bathing purposes immediately, in order to protect future 
bathers. 
 
Violet Ida Yeo was the daughter of Methodist minister, Rev. Henry Yeo 
and was 27 years of age.  Her sister, Stella Yeo was 14 years of age. 
 

---ooo000ooo--- 
 
PAUPERS ROW 
 
Jeremiah or Michael Clifford or John Doe 
 
2006 saw renewed interest in the cemetery, sparked essentially by the 
chance discovery of a 1915 óJohn Doeô burial in the records.  Buried 
here at the back edge of the cemetery, side-by-side with six other 
pioneers buried by the State, the discovery generated community 
interest which resulted in researching the seven burials and erecting 
individual grave markers for each.  This is Paupers Row. 
 
Research suggests that the mystery person may have been Jeremiah or 
Michael Clifford, an Irishman in his 40s.  The most comprehensive 
account of the circumstances of his death appeared in The Mercury on 
Thursday, 7th January, 1915, under the heading: 
 
A BUSH TRAGEDY. DEAD BODY OF A MAN FOUND. GUNSHOT 
WOUND IN HEAD. SUPPOSED CASE OF SUICIDE. 
 
Penguin January 6.  A gruesome discovery was made last night about 7 
oôclock by Thomas Day, a well-known prospector.  He found the body of 
a man, whose name is unknown, in the scrub near the old Neptune 
mine, about two miles on the east side of Penguin.  The locality is much 
favoured by tramps as a sheltering place for the night, and is close to the 
main road and the railway line. 
 
Day at once came into town, and reported the matter to Senior-
Constable Harris, who accompanied Day to the scene, and took 



possession of the deceasedôs swag.  The body was in an advanced 
stage of decomposition.  Arrangements were made for its burial and for 
the holding of an inquest. 
 
The deceased was known locally by the name of ñPaddyò only, and was 
last seen alive in the town on December 28.  He had been drinking for 
some days, and when he left the town he seemed depressed.  He said 
he would make for the Nietta railway works, and try for a job, but had 
evidently got no further than the spot indicated. 
 
An ominous discovery made by the police was that of a revolver by the 
side of the body, and containing an empty cartridge case.  The 
deceased was a big man, over 6ft, and aged about 45.  He had reddish 
hair and whiskers, and is said to have come from the Smithton district.  
He was an Irishman by birth. 
 
The police and Dr. Smellie went out this morning to view the body, and 
bring it into town.  Senior-Constable Harris searched the clothing of the 
deceased, and found 9½d. in coin, a watch and chain, and an open 
letter of recommendation, given by Mr E.E. Poke, of the Exton Hotel.  
This stated that the bearer was a good working man, but did not give 
any clue to his identity.  Dr. Smellie made an examination of the body, 
and found a gunshot wound in one ear, which, from the position of the 
body, and the proximity of the revolver, was probably self-inflicted, and 
was the cause of death.  The body was taken to Penguin Hotel, where 
an inquest will be held. 
 
THE INQUEST 
 
Ulverstone, January 6.  The Coroner (Mr. E.D. Atkinson) held an inquest 
this afternoon on the body of an unknown man which was found in the 
scrub two miles east of Penguin. 
 
Evidence was given by Senior-Constable Harris and Thomas Day and 
Joseph Paton (licencee of the Penguin Hotel).  The last-named identified 
a hat and a pipe found on the body as those belonging to a man who 
had visited his hotel during Christmas week, and whose appearance 
was similar to the deceased.  The witness did not know him.  Dr. Smellie 
stated that he had found a wound above the right ear which might have 
been caused by a bullet.  It was sufficient to cause death. 
 
At this stage, the inquiry was adjourned, to enable further inquiries to be 
made as to the manôs identity. 



 

 
 

---ooo000ooo--- 
 
You have just read about John Doe, an early twentieth century 
equivalent of our Joe Bloggs.  John Doe was a name applied to any 
unnamed male person, for convenience, and it had legal status, that is, it 
was a legitimate substitute when the personôs real name was unknown. 
 
It is likely that the John Doe in this cemetery was Jeremiah or Michael 
Clifford, an itinerant Irish worker, who died at his own hand near the 
Neptune silver mine just east of the township of Penguin, in January, 
1915.  Without family to pay for his funeral, he was buried as a pauper, 
that is, at the expense of the State.  Jeremiah, or Michael, lies here in 
Paupersô Row, beside six other pauper men who died between 1900 and 
1924.  The circumstances of their burials have been researched by the 
Penguin General Cemetery support group and the Penguin History 
Group.  As a result, they have identified the occupants of these graves 
and respectfully marked the graves with plaques.  Let me tell you about 
one more of them. 
 

---ooo000ooo--- 
  



Joseph ROBINSON 
 
The last of the paupers to be buried in this row was Joseph Robinson.  
Again, I am indebted to Ms Ann Keesing of Penguin, for her story on 
Joseph Robinson. 
 
An article in the Penguin column of The Advocate on Friday, 7th 
November, 1924, recorded the death of ñBlack Joeò.  The local police 
received word from Riana, that Joseph Robertson, more generally 
known as ñBlack Joeò was ill in his hut and alone, and suggesting that he 
be removed to the Devon Hospital for treatment.  Trooper Lockett took a 
motor car to Riana yesterday morning to remove the old fellow to 
Latrobe, but on reaching the hut found him at the point of death, the help 
having come too late.  Under the circumstances it was considered best 
to remove the body to Penguin, which was done, and the Coroner 
advised of the occurrence.  As Robertson had not been receiving 
medical attention, it was decided to have a post mortem examination by 
the local doctor, and his report will decide as to whether an inquest will 
be necessary.  Deceased was a native of Massachusetts, U.S.A., and 
was over 90 years of age.  The funeral will take place to-day. 
 

This article was followed the next day by another in the Penguin column 
of the paper.  It announced that after a post-mortem examination Dr. A.J. 
Bothamly, who certified that death was due to senility, it was deemed 
unnecessary to hold an inquest on the body of Joseph Robertson, who 
died on Thursday. 
 
Deceased was a well-known identity on the Coast, and his age is given 
in his pension book as 98 years, but from the personal knowledge of 
residents who have known him for over 60 years, ñBlack Joeò was well 
over the century (probably 104).  The funeral took place at Penguin 
cemetery yesterday afternoon, Rev. M.J. May reading the burial service. 
 
Now, Ann Keesing points out that herein lies a problem.  Joseph could 
not have received a pension unless he had been naturalised.  The only 
applicant of that name who applied for a certificate of Naturalisation was 
found to be an American, Joseph Robinson who, in 1916, was 72 years 
of age. [? born in 1844 ?]  This man therefore would have been 80 years 
of age when he died in 1924. 
 
That would fit with details of a Joseph Robinson, nationality American, 
who arrived in Melbourne in 1862, aged 18 years [born in 1844]. 



Ann says: keeping an open mind, the following records may belong to 
the Joseph Robinson buried here: 
 
From Census records of slave ships from Africa to America, only one 
was recorded in 1844.  That ship carried 68 slaves from the Gold Coast 
on the west coast of Africa, now the country of Ghana, to a port in the 
Chesapeake Tidewater, on the Atlantic coast of America. 
 
Was he born at sea on 25th January, 1844, the baby of a female slave, 
and sold into slavery in America?  It appears that he was and that he 
eventually left Massachusetts as an 18 year old during 1862, just after 
the commencement of the American Civil War. 
 
According to his records, Joseph docked in Melbourne on the ship One 
Want in 1862 and headed for the goldfields of Bendigo and Castlemaine 
in Victoria.  After nine years he moved to Boorhaman, north of 
Wangaratta, working there from 1871 to 1881.  He then became a farm 
labourer at Wahgunyah on the Murray River, west of Albury Wodonga 
and, after 35 years, at the age of 72, applied to the Commonwealth of 
Australia for a Certificate of Naturalisation.  On 17th July, 1916, Joseph 
received his Certificate after signing his mark and two days later the 
Department of External Affairs wrote to him: 
 
Sir, Referring to your application for naturalisation, I shall be glad to be 
informed of the nationality of the boat on which you were born; also the 
locality the boat was in at the time of your birth.  I have the honour to be 
Sir, your obedient servant Atlee Hunt Secretary. 
 
Mr. Hunt did not receive a reply.  The letter was stamped ñunclaimedò at 
the Wahgunyah Post Office on 2nd August, 1916, and, on the reverse 
side of the envelope was hand written ñname unknownò. 
 
So, how and when and why Joseph Robinson came to Penguin as a 
pensioner is unknown.  Clearly, he did not have family about him and no 
one to pay for his burial.  Nevertheless, we can recognise his life, 
acknowledge his passing and keep his memory alive as we lay a flower 
on his grave.  In fact, let us recognise each of these men collectively in 
Paupersô Row. 
 

---ooo000ooo--- 
 
  



Arthur Leslie Barnes 
 
A report on the inquest into the death of Arthur Leslie Barnes was 
published in the Advocate of Wednesday, 26th October, 1921. 
 
The Penguin Coroner (Mr. W.C. Callaway) held an inquiry yesterday at 
the Court House touching the death of Arthur Leslie Barnes at Penguin 
on the previous day.  Very much interest was taken in the proceedings 
by the public.  Sergt. Tomkinson conducted the case for the police, and 
Mr. J. Barnes attended in the interest of his son, deceased. 
 
Stanley Barnes, farm labourer, Penguin, brother of deceased, deposed 
that on Monday morning about 9 oôclock his brother was at home at his 
parentsô residence.  He was in his usual health and spirits.  Deceased 
asked witness to go with him up to the farm to look at their potatoes; he 
could be back again about 2 oôclock.  Witness said he did not feel like 
walking there.  Deceased asked him again twice more, but witness did 
not go.  Deceased left home shortly after 9 oôclock, taking a gun, as he 
said he might get a rabbit.  Mother gave him the gun, the one produced, 
but witness could not say whether he took any cartridges or not.  He did 
not ask witness for any.  That was the last time witness saw his brother 
alive.  He had viewed the body at the hotel and identified it as that of his 
brother Arthur, who was 23 years of age, single, a native of Tasmania, 
and a Methodist.  Deceased was a returned soldier, and had malarial 
fever when away at the front, but witness had not heard him complain 
much of its effects.  At times he suffered from head-aches and pains.  
Witness had not at any time shown any intention of committing suicide. 
 
To the Coroner:  He did not know of deceased having been under the 
care of a doctor at any time.  He thought, after examination, the gun 
produced was in the same condition as when taken away.  He had used 
the gun, which was an old one, and always found it to pull off very easily; 
easier indeed than any other one that he had handled. 
 
Mary Smith, domestic duties, residing at Iron Cliff road, Penguin, had 
known deceased well for about eight years.  On Monday last deceased 
came to her home about 11 oôclock; her house about one mile from the 
town.  Deceased was carrying a gun and came inside the house, 
remaining about 1½ hours.  They were talking together the whole time, 
but there was nothing unusual in his manner.  He said he was going 
home, having come from his potato patch, about half a mile from 
witnessô house.  He said he had been to look at his potatoes which were 
getting on nicely.  He left about 12.30 to go home, as he had promised 



his mother he would be home for dinner, and declined to stay and have 
a cup of tea with witness.  Witness saw him pick up his gun, which he 
had left outside, and go out of the gate, and he turned towards Penguin 
along the Ironcliff road.  That was the last time witness saw him alive.  
During the time he was at witnessô house nothing was said or done by 
deceased which would indicate any intention on his part of committing 
suicide.  The spot where the body was found was about a quarter of a 
mile from witnessô house and towards Penguin, on the Ironcliff road. 
 
Dr. W.J. Ogilvie, medical practitioner, Penguin, deposed that about 4 
p.m. on Monday, in company with the police, he went to the Neptune 
Hotel.  He there saw the body of deceased.  The singlet was charred, 
and there was a little blood on it.  There was a hole in the singlet where 
it was charred, and in his opinion, from the size of the wound, the shot 
must have been fired at close range, and caused instantaneous death.  
From the direction of the wound he considered deceased was in a sitting 
position when he received the wound.  He thought that the muzzle of the 
gun had been held quite close to the breast of deceased, and that the 
injury was probably self-inflicted.  He had carefully studied the spot 
where the body was found before coming to that conclusion.  It was 
possible for deceased to have swung the gun around by the barrel, in 
which case it might have struck a fern or something of the sort, but he 
considered the shot had been fired as stated, quite close to the breast. 
 
Joseph Payton, farmer, residing on Ironcliff road, knew deceased and 
saw him alive last about 10 oôclock on Monday morning, in front of 
witnessô house, where they had a conversation together.  Albert Revell 
was in the potato paddock close by scarifying, but did not come up to 
speak to deceased at that time.  Deceased afterwards walked over to 
where Revell was working.  There was nothing unusual in deceasedôs 
manner, and when leaving witness went to look at his own potatoes, 
about a mile away.  Witness did not again see him alive.  Later on 
witness saw his dead body on the roadside, midway between A. Revellôs 
and E. Revellôs on the right hand side.  Young Hawes came about 1 
oôclock to borrow a bike to make the occurrence known to the police.  He 
simply said there was a dead man there.  When witness went to the 
place he found the body in a sitting position on a bank about 18 inches 
high.  The feet were in the table drain, and the head lying back on the 
bank.  The gun was between the legs, the stock being in the drain, and 
the barrel towards his chest.  Deceasedôs hands were apart on either 
side of the body and not holding the gun. 
 
To the Coroner:  the gun was lying along the body between the legs. 



 
Continuing, witness said he could see that life was extinct.  He was 
present when the police took charge of the body and removed it to the 
hotel. 
 
To the Coroner:  There was nothing attached to the gun when he saw it 
on the body. 
 
Edgar Henry Fielding, farmer, Carmanton, was on Ironcliff road about 1 
oôclock on Monday, travelling with a team.  James Hawes was about 
three chains behind witness with another team.  Witness noticed a body 
lying on the west side of the road and identified it as that of deceased.  
The body was as if deceased had been sitting on the bank and had 
fallen back, the feet being in the table drain.  A gun was lying between 
his legs.  The hat of deceased had fallen over the eyes.  He removed the 
hat, and could see death had taken place.  Saw a wound on the chest, 
and blood on the left side of the body.  He sent Hawes to tell Mr. Revell 
there was a dead man on the roadside, and then to inform the police, 
using a bike that was on the roadside for that purpose.  Hawes did so.  
Witness remained at the scene until the police arrived. 
 
To the Coroner:  He identified the gun produced as one similar to that he 
saw between the legs of deceased.  He did not see anything attached to 
the trigger of the gun when he saw it beside the body. 
 
Peter J. Yaxley, farm labourer, Ironcliff road, deposed he lived about 3 
miles from the town.  He was on the road on Monday, leaving Penguin a 
little after 12 for home.  Mr. Peter Clarke was with witness riding in the 
dray.  Witness met deceased on the top of Revellôs hill a little after half 
past twelve.  The spot as pointed out to him as where the body was 
found later on was somewhere near where they had stayed talking to 
deceased for about five minutes.  They talked about farming matters but 
witness noticed deceased was much quieter than usual in his manner.  
Witness went on for another two chains, and on turning round saw 
deceased sitting on a bank on the side of the road.  Deceased had his 
head down, as if he was tying up his boot-lace.  He was carrying a 
double-barrel gun, but witness could not see the gun when he saw 
deceased sitting down.  The distance from where he met deceased to 
where he was seen sitting down would be about 1 chain.  Witness did 
not hear any report of a gun shot at about that time.  It would be 
between 12.30 oôclock and 1 p.m. when he saw deceased sitting on the 
road.  Deceased was on his way to Penguin when they met him.  It was 
on the Penguin side of Mrs. Smithôs residence, where they met.  Before 



they met him witness noticed deceased come from the direction of Mr. 
Revellôs potato patch.  There was a wire fence on the road side. 
 
Senior Constable Wicks deposed to having received a report on Monday 
afternoon of a man being found dead on the Ironcliff road.  Proceeding 
to the spot with Trooper Lockett, about 1.20 p.m., he found the body of 
deceased at a spot south of Mr. Albert Revellôs residence.  He met there 
Albert Revell, Joseph Payton, Edward Fielding, and Robert Revell.  The 
body was lying on the right-hand side of the road, as described by 
previous witnesses.  A towel had been thrown over the chest.  
Deceasedôs coat was thrown back.  The front of the singlet was covered 
with blood flowing from the wound on the left breast, apparently caused 
by a gun shot wound in the vicinity of the heart.  A double-barrel gun 
was lying on the body, the butt between the feet, and the barrel towards 
the body.  One barrel had been recently discharged, the empty case 
showing it had been loaded with No. 3 shot.  There was blood on the 
barrels, mostly on the left-hand one, where it had run down the barrel.  
That indicated that the muzzle must have been pressed closely to the 
body when the charge was fired.  The empty case was half-filled with 
blood.  He produced a piece of fern about 9 inches long which was 
found about five feet from deceasedôs right hand.  One end had been 
freshly broken and appeared to have been pressed on something.  He 
identified the body as that of Arthur Barnes, and judged that death had 
taken place about half an hour previously.  There was no appearance of 
there having been a struggle of any kind near where the body was lying.  
He produced the singlet worn by deceased, showing where it was 
scorched by the flame, and saturated with blood from the wound.  He 
last saw deceased alive at 9.20 that morning, when he was quite jovial, 
as usual.  Barnes had certain official business with him before leaving, 
and on leaving he said he would see witness again about dinner time 
that day, when he returned home. 
 
To the Coroner:  There was nothing to show how the gun had been 
discharged, when he reached the body.  He had had a lot of experience 
with guns, and he considered the one produced was very unsafe.  This 
he proved by a demonstration in court showing the hammers could be 
released in any position by slight pressure.  It was a very dangerous gun 
indeed. 
 
Sergt. Tomkinson stated he had just been informed that deceased had 
several times lately visited Dr. Gollan at Ulverstone as to his health.  If it 
would be helpful, he was prepared to adjourn the case to permit of Dr. 
Gollanôs attendance. 



 
The Coroner thought it would not be very helpful to call Arthur Barnesô 
treating medical practitioner to give a statement, as there was no 
evidence as to deceased having been in any way of unbalanced mind; 
he could not think that death was caused wilfully.  The gun was so 
unsafe it should not be used by anyone, and he was of the opinion that 
death was due to an accidental discharge of the gun, and not otherwise.  
He gave a verdict that deceased met his death by a gun-shot wound, 
accidentally received. 
 
The next item in the newspaper was a funeral notice é 
 
Members of the Returned Soldiersô League are requested by 
advertisement to attend the funeral of the late Trooper A.L. Barnes, 
which takes place this afternoon. 
 

---ooo000ooo--- 
 
Allen James Dunham 
 
A report on the inquest into the death of young Allen James Dunham 
was published in the Advocate edition of Tuesday, 18th May, 1926. 
 
West Pine Fatality 
 
An inquiry touching the death of Allen James, infant son of Mr. and Mrs. 
Samuel Dunham, was held at Penguin yesterday, before the coroner 
(Mr. W.C. Callaway).  Sergeant Tomkinson appeared for the police. 
 
Samuel Dunham, farmer, near West Pine Road, father of deceased, 
identified the body as that of his son, Allen James, aged 14 months.  
Witness last saw him alive about noon on Saturday.  He was then at the 
house, and in his usual health and spirits.  About one hour later, witness 
was passing the house with a cart load of posts, when he heard 
screams, and he ran to the house.  He found his wife holding the baby, 
who was dripping wet, and apparently dead.  His wife and daughter told 
him they had just found the baby in the copper, which had been taken 
out of the frame, and stood half full of water on the ground in the yard.  
He took the baby from his wife and, laying it on the grass, he tried to 
bring about artificial respiration, but failed.  Miss Kate Lillico, a 
neighbour, also came over and tried to restore life, persisting until the 
doctor came, but also failed, as did Dr. Romeo. 
 



Rosanna Elizabeth Dunham, mother of deceased, deposed that she last 
saw the baby alive about noon.  He had been with her all the morning.  
About noon her daughter Ruby took Allen with her to look for mush-
rooms, and was away about half an hour, putting the baby down near 
the back door.  Witness heard Allen talking to his sister Agnes, who was 
peeling potatoes in the porch.  She asked Ruby to go out and bring him 
in, as he might follow his father, who was coming with a load of posts.  
Before Ruby could get out, Agnes called out, ñAllen is in the copper,ò she 
having gone out to see where the baby was.  When witness got in the 
yard, Agnes was just lifting the baby out of the copper.  The babyôs head 
and shoulders were wet.  His lips were blue, and his body was very limp.  
He appeared to be dead.  Her husband tried to induce artificial 
respiration, but failed.  Witness had taken the copper out of the stand 
that morning in order to clean it.  It was nearly half full of cold, soapy 
water. 
 
Agnes Rosanna Dunham (15), sister of deceased, deposed that she last 
saw the baby alive between half-past 12 and 1 oôclock on Saturday.  Her 
sister Ruby brought him to the porch, and sat him down beside witness.  
A little later, she went outside to see where Allen was, and saw his legs 
hanging out over the edge of the copper.  She called in her mother and 
father, and then pulled the baby out.  His head, shoulders, and arms 
were in the water.  The copper had not tilted over.  There was no sign of 
life in the baby.  Witness then ran to Mr. Hugh Lillicoôs house, where 
Miss Kate Lillico rang up Dr. Romeo, at Penguin, and then came back 
with witness and tried restorative methods until the doctor came, but 
without success.  She could not see the copper from the porch door, nor 
did she hear any cries from the baby.  There was no other person in the 
yard at that time. 
 
Dr. G. Romeo, medical practitioner, Penguin, deposed to having been 
called in to deal with the case on Saturday.  He found no signs of life, 
and the body had all the symptoms of drowning.  He considered that to 
be the cause of death. 
 
Senior-Constable Button gave formal evidence to having examined the 
body, which bore no signs of violence.  He produced the copper referred 
to in the evidence. 
 
The Coroner said it was a most regrettable affair, but the evidence 
clearly proved that the deceased, Allen James Dunham, came by his 
death by accidental drowning, and not by otherwise. 
 



The funeral will take place this afternoon, arriving at Penguin cemetery 
at 3 oôclock. 
 

---ooo000ooo--- 
 
Margaret Emily Costello and 
Daphne Joy Costello 
 
The death and funeral notices for Margaret Emily Costello appeared in 
the Advocate on Thursday, 8th May, 1924. 
 
COSTELLO.- On May 7, at the Levenbank Hospital, Margaret Emily, 
beloved wife of William G. Costello, aged 45 years. 
 

 
 
A news item in the Advocate of Tuesday, 13th May, 1924, added to the 
sad circumstances for the Costello family é 
 
Last Sad Rites: 
 
Much sympathy is felt all over the district at the sad bereavements which 
have befallen the Costello family during the last few days.  Only on 


